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Wlma:
The ingpection was an examinalon of the aclivities conducted under your license as they relate 1o radiation safety and to compliance with the Nucleer

‘| Rogulatary Commission (NRC) rules and roegulations and the conditions of your liceniee. The inspaction eonsisted of seleclive examinatons of
procadures and represemative recorgs, interviows with personnel, and observetions by the inspectsr. The inspection findings arm as follews:

[] 1. Based on the Inspaction findings, no violations ware identfed.
D 2. Previous violation(s) cicaed,

3. The viofation(s), apacifically deseribad to yau by the inspacior 85 non-citad violaions. are nat belng cited because they were saif-
D Idantified, non-repetitive, anc corrective acﬂonwms or |3 being taken, and the remalining criteria In the NRC Enfercement Policy, to

axQraise discration, were satisfied,

Non=cited violation(s) ware discussed involving the faliewing requirement(s) and corrective action(s):

—

m 4. During this inspection, certain of your activities, 26 described below and/or attached, were in vickation of NRC requirements and are being
- died in aceordance with the NRC Enforcament Palicy, This form Is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may ba subject to posting in

aocondenco With 10 CFR 19,11, (Violations and Corective Astions)

1) 10 CFR 20.1101(c) roquires, In part, that the lioensee shall pariodically (at east annually) reviow the radiation safety protection
program content and implementation, Contrary to the above, rom November 18, 2008, through January 29, 2013, the lioensee did
not review the radiation safaty protection program content and implementation. Specifically, the licensee did not perform an
annugl review sinco the last inspection, which was conduated on Nevomber 18, 2008. Thg licensee committed to perform an
annugl review within the next month and to parform an annual reviaw every year thereafter, The licansee will add the annual
review % thelr gdminisirgtive scheduling system 1o prevent racumenos,

This is a Severity Lavel IV vioistion (Enfercament Policy Section 6.3(d)).

Statement of Corrective Actions

| hareby state that, within 30 days, the actions desaribad by me to e Inspecter will be taken o correct the vioigtions identified. This statement of
comactive actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2,201 (comective steps already taken, corrective steps which Will be taken,
date when Nl compliance will be achiavad), | undaretend that no further written response o NRC will be required, uniess specifically requested,
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g"gy’s':;gqg" & Sturgeon, Ltd. U.S. Nuclear Regulatﬁry Commission
e Reglon |, 2100 Renalasance Bivd, Sulte 100
Barbaursville, West Virginla 25504 King of Prussla, Pennsylvania 16406-3713
REPORT NUMBER(S) 2013001
3. DOOKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENGE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INGPECTION
030-10080 47-18672-01 January 20 - February S, 2013
(Continued)

2) 10 CFR 71.8 (a) requires, in part. that each licensee who transports licorsed material outside the she of usage, 98 specified inthe
NRC liosnse, or where trarspar is on public Nghwaya ahall comply with the applicable requirements of the DOT regutationa found in 48
CER parts 107. 171 through 180, and 390 through 397, appropriate to the mode of ransport. 46 CFR 172.702 requirss. in pan, that s
hazmat empioyer ahall ensure that each ¢f its hazmat employaes is treined In 8coortencs with the requirements prescribod In Subpart H
of 49 CFR pent 172. Contrary to the above, on January 2, 2048, Jonuary 8, 2013, and January 10, 2019, a well 10gging superviser
transported a Ce-137 well logaing source 1 and from @ temporary job alte in NRC jurfediction and the employer had not provided training
covaring tha requirements of Subpart H of 40 CFR part 172 to this employes. The well Ing supervieor ook the reduired training on
Pebruary 4, 2013. The licenges agreed to acd this recurrent tralning Into their adm ve achaduling systam to prevent recurrence.

his is 8 Severity Leval IV vielation (Enforsement Policy Section 5.5(d)).
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